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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE STATE OF OREGON 

FOR THE COUNTY OF MULTNOMAH 
 

 

 

 

 SAMUEL THOMPSON, 
 

Plaintiff, 
 
 

vs. 
 
 
 
 
VEGASSTARS, an Oregon limited liability 
company, and CHRISTOPHER LENAHAN, 
 
 
Defendants. 
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DECLARATION OF KENAN POWELL 
 

   
 
I, KENAN POWELL, declare as follows: 

1. I am 38 years old. 

2. I have lived in the Pacific Northwest my entire life. 

3. I am a black man. 

4. I worked in nightclub security from 2006 - 2014. I subsequently worked as a 

corrections deputy for two years. I am currently pursuing a bachelor’s degree in psychology 

and criminal justice. 

5. In 2010 or 2011, while working security for nightclubs in Portland, I was asked 

by Top Flyte security to join a team working at Dirty. 
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6. On my first night, I was told by one of the security leaders that the owner of 

Dirty, “Chris,” had a policy of excluding gentlemen of color from his club and that he had 

made it clear that everyone who worked for him from the top down knew his policy that  “I 

don’t want too many chocolate chips in my bowl of milk, just a few.” 

7. I learned that the “chocolate chip” policy meant that Dirty would exclude people 

of color to keep the proportion of dark-skinned people who entered the club low by arbitrarily 

enforcing the dress code against people of color and then by charging higher cover charges to 

people of color. 

8. On the night I trained as a new security member at Dirty, I began working and 

observing security procedures at the side door. We were told that if there were too many people 

of color inside the club, that the security would be told to start enforcing the dress code for 

patrons of color by telling them they were violating the dress code and sending them to the side 

door. At the side door, security would explain that the patron was not complying with the dress 

code but they could still get in if they paid an additional $5- $40 cover charge. On that night, 

Portland trailblazers LeMarcus Aldridge and Dante Cunningham tried to get into Dirty. They 

were wearing expensive European shoes, designer jeans, button up shirts and sports jackets. 

They were the best dressed people I saw all night and they were complying with the dress code 

yet they were sent to me at the side door. When they were told they would have to pay an 

additional cover for violating the dress code, they left. 

9. I also observed that four dark skinned, Indian men were sent to the side door that 

night for dress code violations. Like the Trailblazers, these men were very well dressed and 
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were not violating the dress code. Nevertheless, they were told they were in violation of the 

dress code and they were charged an extra $20 per person. 

10. Later that evening, I was working the front door and a white man wearing ripped 

jeans, a bandana and a dirty sports jersey was clearly violating the dress code yet he was 

allowed in. I never returned to work to Dirty after that night because I could not stand to work 

for such a blatantly racist club. 

11. When I asked the security guards how they could work for such a club, they said 

that’s just the way the owner is, but they get a share of the extra cover charges from the dress 

code violations so it’s worth it. 

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and 

correct.  

DATED this 24th day of February 2019. 

 

By:  
Kenan Powell 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Oregon, that the 

following is true and correct: 

 I am employed by the law firm of Levi Merrithew Horst, PC. 

 At all times hereinafter mentioned, I was and am a citizen of the United States of 

America, a resident of the State of Oregon, over the age of eighteen (18) years, not a party to 

the above-entitled action, and competent to be a witness herein. 

 On the date set forth below I served the document(s) to which this is attached, in the 

manner noted on the following person(s): 

PARTY/COUNSEL DELIVERY 
INSTRUCTIONS 

Counsel for Defendants 
Ryan Kunkel 
Stoel Rives LLP 
760 SW Ninth Ave., Suite 3000 
Portland, OR  97205 

(     ) Via U.S. Mail 
(     ) Via Odyssey E-File 
(     ) Via Facsimile  
( X ) Via E-Mail 

 

 DATED this 25th day of February, 2019 at Portland, Oregon. 

      
          By: ______________________ 
      Sarah Noble 
      Office Manager 


